Parkinson's Disease and COVID-19: Treatment and Patient Management During a Pandemic

By

Nourin Afsana ID: 16346053

A thesis submitted to the Department of Pharmacy in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Pharmacy (Hons)

Department of Pharmacy Brac University September 2021

© 2021. Brac University All rights reserved.

Declaration

It is hereby declared that

1. The thesis submitted is my/our own original work while completing degree at Brac

University.

2. The thesis does not contain material previously published or written by a third party, except

where this is appropriately cited through full and accurate referencing.

3. The thesis does not contain material which has been accepted, or submitted, for any other

degree or diploma at a university or other institution.

4. I/We have acknowledged all main sources of help.

Student's Full Name & Signature:

Nourin Afsana

16346053

Student Full Name

Student ID

Approval

The thesis/project titled "Parkinson's Disease and COVID-19: Treatment and Patient Management During a Pandemic" submitted by Nourin Afsana, ID: 16346053 of Spring, 2017 has been accepted as satisfactory in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Bachelor of Pharmacy (Hons.) on 22nd September 2021.

Examining Committee:	
Supervisor: (Member)	Ms. Marzia Alam Lecturer, Department Of Pharmacy, Brac University
Program Coordinator: (Member)	Dr. Zara Sheikh Senior Lecturer and Program Coordinator of Department of Pharmacy Brac University
Departmental Head: (Chair)	Dr. Eva Rahman Kabir Professor, Department of Pharmacy Brac University

Ethics Statement

The study does not involve any kind of animal trial and human trial.

Abstract

One of the most remarkable health problems we have faced since the World War II is the

COVID-19 outbreak. This review article discusses insights from basic science as well as

clinical perspectives on COVID-19 disease with a specific concern on Parkinson's disease

(PD). Patients with COVID-19 have compromised immunity, especially in an aged population

suffering from PD. The 1st report on the relationship between COVID-19 and PD comes from

the research on antibodies against four antigens of COVID-19 in Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF) of

normal controls compared to patients with neurological illnesses, especially PD. Unfortunately,

identification of COVID-19 is difficult in PD patients because PD is often preceded by

anosmia, which is a common feature of COVID-19. Presently, no disease-modifying treatment

is available for PD. But for temporary relief, the treatment is composed of dopaminergic drugs

like levodopa and PD patients with COVID-19 are treated with favipiravir, amantadine etc.

where amantadine was the first FDA-approved medicine in the United States that indicates dual

function in the treatment of both diseases. This review also discusses the COVID-19 negative

impact on PD patients due to lockdown/isolation. To conclude, this review is mainly focused

on the COVID-19 and PD relationship, consequences of PD patients infected with COVID-19,

treatment options and COVID-19 impact on PD patients.

Keywords: COVID-19, Parkinson's disease, antibodies, anosmia, amantadine, lockdown.

V

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents for their love and support.

Acknowledgement

With respect and appreciation, I would like to express my sincere thanks to all the people who have directly or indirectly helped me to accomplish the completion of this paper. Firstly, I am thankful to Almighty Allah for giving me the strength as well as ability that was required to understand, learn and complete my thesis. Then, I am extremely grateful to my supervisor at the Department of Pharmacy of Brac University, Ms. Marzia Alam for believing in me, giving me this opportunity, guiding as well as directing me along the way with her valuable suggestions. Without her utmost patience, encouragement, and help, I could not have successfully completed this work. Also, I would like to convey my deepest gratitude and honor to Professor Dr. Eva Rahman Kabir, Chairperson and Professor, Department of Pharmacy, Brac University, one of the finest, kindest, and elegant human beings I have ever come in contact with. Last but not the least, I would like to thank my family and friends for being with me, supporting me, and encouraging me to work harder and harder at every stage of my life.

Table of Contents

Methodology	3
Chapter 2	3
1.3 Objectives of the study	2
1.2 Aim of the study	2
1.1 Background	1
Introduction	1
Chapter 1	1
Glossary	xiii
List of Acronyms	xii
List of Tables	xi
Acknowledgement	vii
Dedication	vi
Abstract	v
Ethics Statement	iv
Approval	iii
Declaration	11

3.1 Comparison between signs and symptoms of PD and COVID-19	4
3.2 COVID-19 is related with an elevated risk of developing PD	6
Chapter 4	8
Potential mechanisms of PD development in COVID-19 patients	8
Chapter 5	11
Effects of COVID-19 on PD patients	11
5.1 Consequences of PD patients with COVID-19 infection	11
Chapter 6	15
Treatment options for Parkinson's Disease and COVID-19 with possib	ole
interconnections	15
6.1 Currently available treatments for PD patients	15
6.2 Repurposed drugs for COVID-19	18
6.2.1 Favipiravir (FPV)	18
6.2.2 Monoclonal Antibodies	18
6.2.3 Chloroquine (CQ) and Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ)	19
6.2.4 Convalescent plasma transfusion	19
6.3 Drugs for PD patients infected with COVID-19	19
6.3.1 Favipiravir (FPV)	19
6.3.2 Azithromycin (AZM)	20
6.3.3 Amantadine	20
Chapter 7	22

Impact on PD patient care due to COVID-19 Pandemic	23
7.1 Effects of social distancing and lockdown on PD patients' health	23
7.1.1 Stress	24
7.1.2 Anxiety	24
7.1.3 Reduced Mobility	24
7.2 Breakdown of the medical care system	25
7.3 Health care system shifted to virtual care for PD Patients	25
7.4 Slow progress in novel PD treatment because of COVID-19	27
Chapter 8	29
8.1 Conclusion	29
8.2 Future Directions	30
References	31

List of Tables

Table 1: Comparison between the signs and symptoms of COVID-19 and PD	5
Table 2: Ongoing research on mortality data related to COVID-19 in PD	.14
Table 3: Clinically available anti-Parkinson's drugs, their adverse reactions (ADR) a	and
mechanism of actions (MOA)	.17

List of Acronyms

WHO World Health Organization

SARS-CoV-2 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2

KP Kynurenine Pathway

FPV Favipiravir

CQ Chloroquine

HCQ Hydroxychloroquine

AZM Azithromycin

DBS Deep Brain Stimulation

LCIG Levodopa-Carbidopa Intestinal Gel

UPDRS Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale

CTSL Cathepsin L

Glossary

UPDRS:

It is the most widely applied rating instrument for Parkinson disease. It is used to follow the longitudinal course of Parkinson's disease.

Senescent cells:

Senescent cells are cells that can no longer divide or support the tissue they are part of. This is a permanent state of cell cycle arrest brought on by cellular stress. A senescent cell is in its twilight: not quite dead, but not functioning as it once did.

Introduction

1.1 Background

In this era, the remarkable problem people have faced since the Second World War is the COVID-19 outbreak that has become a widespread health crisis. In 2019, this new coronavirus eruption called COVID-19 was identified in China and later around the world. As of 11:04 a.m. CET (Central European Time) on September 20, 2021, there have been two hundred twenty-nine million two hundred ninety-seven thousand eighty-five (229,297,085) confirmed cases of COVID-19 reported to WHO by national authorities, including four million seven hundred five thousand five hundred eighty-six (4,705,586) deaths. The disease has spread to all continents, and cases are increasing day by day that is causing social, economic, and political problems and leaving a deep scar (Amin Tabish, 2020).

It is the most infectious respiratory disease originated from the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus-2. It is spread from one human to another through droplets when a COVID-19 infected person coughs, sneezes, or speaks (*WHO*, 2020) and is a member of the Coronaviridae family that contains a group of enveloped, positive-sensed, single-stranded RNA viruses (Ye et al., 2020). At first, the spike (S) protein of the virus attaches to the cell. After that, it binds to various host proteins that help its entrance (Sulzer et al., 2020).

There are some specific considerations for elderly people because of the raised susceptibility of patients with a chronic disease that additionally includes brain disorders such as PD (Helmich & Bloem, 2020). It is a chronic neurological condition marked by a wide range of motor as well as a non-motor symptoms (Jankovic, 2008) and characterized by the onset of

asymmetric rigidity along with bradykinesia, with or without rest tremor (Keener & Bordelon, 2016).

However, PD symptoms like balance/fall problems, difficulty swallowing, urinary tract dysfunction, and weight loss can cause general weakness and raise the chance of complications from COVID-19 infection. In addition, throughout the COVID-19 lockdowns, motor and non-motor symptoms were exaggerated in PD patients who did not get infected with COVID-19 (Helmich & Bloem, 2020). For this reason, in this review, pharmacotherapy of PD patients that links with COVID-19 will be discussed.

1.2 Aim of the study

This review aims to gather all possible information on the possible links in the mechanism of PD and COVID-19, consequences of PD patients infected with COVID-19, treatment options for PD and COVID-19, treatment of PD patients infected with COVID-19, also proper care of PD patients in the course of the COVID-19 pandemic.

1.3 Objectives of the study

The objectives of this review are,

- To compile information about the existing and emerging consequences of COVID-19 on PD patient's signs and symptoms.
- Collect information about the health status of PD infected with COVID-19 as well as the risk of COVID-19 in patients with PD.
- Gather all possible information of PD and COVID-19 treatment.
- To identify relationships between the treatment of PD and COVID-19.

Methodology

A three-staged procedure was used to gather the information for this review which include: 1) using resources such as PubMed and ScienceDirect, I was compiled a list of potentially relevant papers, 2) selection of articles that are unquestionably relevant, and 3) scrutiny of selected studies. A review of articles was done to compile these recent advances. The articles were chosen based on the most recent information about pharmacotherapy of PD, PD pharmacotherapy that links with COVID-19, risk factors, treatment, etc. and for this review study, the above mentioned keywords were utilized to gather information. Finally, through Mendeley library the references were searched and inserted into the review paper. Also, a bibliography of all the references that have already been cited was created.

Relationship between COVID-19 and Parkinson's disease (PD)

The first report on the relationship between COVID-19 as well as PD comes from the research on antibodies against four antigens of COVID-19 like human coronaviruses 229E along with OC43 in Cerebrospinal Fluid (CSF) of normal controls compared to patients with neurological illnesses, especially PD. Compared to many neurological illnesses, PD patients have higher CSF coronavirus antibodies (Butterworth, 2020). Functional connections between PD and COVID-19 occur in a variety of ways. CSF of patients with PD reports higher antibody responses to a range of coronaviruses (Fazzini et al., 1992), and in other viral encephalitides, the abnormalities of the basal ganglia have also been seen (Fishman et al., 1985).

3.1 Comparison between signs and symptoms of PD and COVID-19

Coronavirus causes a wide variety of symptoms such as fever, cough, shortness of breath, sputum, myalgia, joint pain (Fearon & Fasano, 2021). In addition, headache, diarrhea, and sore throat and they are the prevalent symptoms of this disease that occur 2-14 days after exposure (Wan et al., 2020; B. E. Young et al., 2020). On the other hand, PD signs and symptoms can be different for the individual and it develops gradually. PD usually starts with a slight tremor in one hand along with a sense of stiffness in the body. Over time, other symptoms will appear, and some people may develop dementia (Fearon & Fasano, 2021).

COVID-19 infection is closely related with the development of anosmia or hyposmia, particularly in women and patients with fever (da Silva et al., 2021; Lechien et al., 2020). On the other hand, anosmia or hyposmia is a typical non-motor symptom of PD and occurs in ~90% of early-stage cases of PD (Ponsen et al., 2004). Myalgia which is a painful condition that affects the back muscles is frequent with COVID-19 or other viral infections and in certain cases, COVID-19 patients with PD (Sulzer et al., 2020). In addition, fatigue is a typical

symptom of COVID-19 disease and the most prevalent and debilitating symptom of PD patients, affecting their quality of life significantly. Although pathophysiology of fatigue is poorly understood in PD (Kostić et al., 2016; Townsend et al., 2020).

Since SARS-CoV-2 infection symptoms such as pain in the limbs, fatigue, and anosmia are also part of the non-motor symptoms of PD, early and accurate diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 in PD patients is difficult (Sulzer et al., 2020; Tarakad & Jankovic, 2017). Over 96% of PD patients suffer from anosmia and up to 40% of patients with loss of taste (Tarakad & Jankovic, 2017).

Table 1: Comparison between the signs and symptoms of COVID-19 and PD

COVID-19	Parkinson Disease(PD)
The most common symptoms (Alimohamadi et al., 2020),	Motor and Related Symptoms of PD (Standaert et al., 2018),
Fever	
Dry cough	Tremor
Fatique	Rigidity
G	Bradykinesia
Symptoms that are less common and may affect some	Postural Instability
patients include (WHO, 2020),	Walking/Gait Difficulties
(2, 3 2)	Vocal Symptoms
Loss of taste or smell,	
Nasal congestion,	Non-Motor Symptoms of PD (Standaert e
Conjunctivitis,	al., 2018),
Sore throat, Headache,	
Muscle/joint pain,	Disturbances in the Sense of Smell
Nausea/vomiting,	Disturbance of the normal sleep pattern
Diarrhea,	Depression with Anxiety
Chills/dizziness.	Fatigue
	Cognitive Decline
Symptoms of severe COVID-19 disease include (WHO,	Loss of weight
2020)	GI problems
,	Light headedness
Shortness of breath,	Urinary Issues
Loss of appetite,	Sweating
Confusion,	Melanoma
Persistent pain/ pressure in the chest,	
Temperature above 38 °C	

3.2 COVID-19 is related with an elevated risk of developing PD

According to a minimum of 3 revealed single-case within 2–5 weeks of receiving COVID-19 patient acquired clinical parkinsonism, either alone or with some neurological abnormalities (Brundin et al., 2020; S. Cohen et al., 2021). They (age 35, 45, and 58) required hospitalization because they suffered from a severe respiratory infection. Two of them reported a decrease in their parkinsonian symptoms after taking traditional dopaminergic medication (M. E. Cohen et al., 2020; Faber et al., 2020). The third patient recovered spontaneously (Méndez-Guerrero et al., 2020). In all of them, a decrease in the nigrostriatal dopamine system function was observed by brain imaging that is similar to PD. Among them, one was without PD risk variants found by genetic testing, and no one had a record of prodromal PD signs or record of PD in their family history (M. E. Cohen et al., 2020).

Perhaps, these patients were prone to develop PD and they were about to lose the number of nigral dopaminergic neurons necessary for motor symptoms to appear. Also, COVID-19 accelerated an ongoing neurodegenerative process. In the case of viral infection, the fast onset of serious motor symptoms still indicates a causal relationship. In addition, before COVID-19 disease no one among the patients reported signs of prodromal PD (Brundin et al., 2020).

One possible reason for the increased risk of dying from coronavirus in PD patients' might be that it can cause pneumonia, and pneumonia is the reason for death in PD patients. Part of the reason is that PD patients' may have difficulty in swallowing or suffocation, which may lead to aspiration (Zhang et al., 2020). Therefore, elderly patients are more prone to death because age is a risk factor of COVID-19 as it can lead to acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) (Hainque & Grabli, 2020). Additionally, quarantine, pharmacodynamics effects and sudden changes in daily life, the effects of stress and anxiety, and inconvenience are the indirect effects

of COVID-19 that affect PD patients life and also create adverse effects on motor and non-motor symptoms (Helmich & Bloem, 2020).

Potential mechanisms of PD development in COVID-19 patients

Many possible procedures have been suggested through which SARS-CoV-2 infection can affect PD or give rise to PD. These mechanisms can work individually or together. These include:

In the first place, in extreme COVID-19 cases, vascular harm was recorded to happen in numerous organs along with the cerebrum, in serious COVID-19 related to a hypercoagulable state. This may straightforwardly harm the nigrostriatal network, similar to what is viewed in vascular Parkinsonism (Faber et al., 2020).

Secondly, it is possible that severe COVID-19 causes marked systemic inflammation as it can activate neuroinflammation along with death of nigral dopamine neurons by taking in mind the link between inflammatory disorders as well as higher PD risk. It is believed that the midbrain is particularly sensitive due to dopaminergic neurons. In many studies, it was observed that level interleukin (IL)-6 has increased in COVID-19 (Thomas et al., 2020). Moreover, one among these studies observed perturbation in the kynurenine pathway. Interestingly, both of these mechanisms are related to PD (Heilman et al., 2020; Johnson et al., 2019). The metabolic pathway of tryptophan degradation is called the kynurenine pathway (KP). In patients with COVID-19 it is highly activated which leads modulation of the immune response as well as promotes cognitive dysfunction. Therefore, it is not clear whether KP activation in COVID-19 leads to an increase in the conversion of tryptophan to l-KYN. Contrarily, it is assume that the kynurenine pathway malfunctions in PD because of making excessive QUIN, dopamine-producing cell death and inflammation. Additionally, the levels of kynurenine metabolites could altered by L-DOPA treatment and it can affect the glutamatergic transmission that result L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia (LID). A study to look into the probable KYN metabolites role

in LID in which evaluation of KP metabolites in plasma and CSF from Parkinson's patients with LID showed a four-fold increase in the 3HK / KYNA ratio and a decrease in AA levels.

3-HAA causes oxidative stress in neurodegenerative disorders, leading to the reactive oxygen species production. TRP metabolism was affected by stochastic resonance therapy as it reduced the TRP, KYN and KYNA levels that might induce neuropsychiatric disorders such as PD (Collier et al., 2021; Venkatesan et al., 2020).

Thirdly, after the death of a few patients with coronavirus viral RNA was found in their brain so it can be assumed that COVID-19 could also be a neurotropic virus. In addition, in the olfactory system or enteric nerve PD process starts that has been shown in neuropathological studies on the immunostaining of aggregated α-synuclein, then spreads along the neural pathway to other areas of the brain (Poewe et al., 2017). Common characteristics of prodromal PD are hyposmia, constipation, additionally α-synuclein aggregates could contribute to the pathophysiology. The virus can directly enter the brain area associated with PD as the gastrointestinal tract is infected and hyposmia is common. The vagus nerve also innervates the airway. In addition, high levels of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptors is expressed by dopamine neurons in the midbrain. It is needed for virus entrance, and may make cells sensitive to COVID-19 (Yang et al., 2020). The intriguing chance is that the neural intrusion of SARS-CoV-2 will prompt expanded neuronal articulation of α-synuclein during the viral disease of the sensory system, and α -synuclein will undergo increment and go about as an infection limitation factor. Like PD brain continuously increasing levels of α-synuclein in neurons is responsible for the formation of aggregates in SARS-CoV-2, which subsequently lead to neuronal death (Faber et al., 2020).

Thus, whereas acute brain disorder in association with coronavirus seems to be uncommon, and unfolding of COVID-19 in the community causes a big percentage of people to be prone to PD later in life, particularly as they will also be influenced by normal processes of aging.

Besides, it is mandatory to closely monitor the number of patients infected with the virus and keep track of the signs of PD. It will be strenuous to find the medication that reduces such rising risk (Faber et al., 2020).

Effects of COVID-19 on PD patients

5.1 Consequences of PD patients with COVID-19 infection

Infection is a common reason for worsening parkinsonian symptoms. Therefore, infections like SARS-CoV-2 have harmful effect (it can be direct or indirect) on the motor symptoms of PD. A study found that in all eight COVID-19 patients, PD symptoms worsened sooner or later after infection (Artusi et al., 2020).

Twelve PD and COVID-19 patients were compared in a population-based study with 36 years old, sex, and COVID-related negative benchmark groups, and observed that levodopa-related motor symptoms declined and raised day by day OFF-time in the COVID-19 patients. A big part of COVID-positive cases experience diarrhea, and motor deterioration and apart from the deterioration of motor disability as well as everyday activities for living daily OFF time were mainly clarified by diarrhea (Cilia et al., 2020).

A survey on the telephone in Spain with 568 patients recorded that symptoms of PD deteriorated in 65.7% of people in the period of COVID-19 (Santos-García et al., 2020). Another study looked at consultations with PD people in Rome during the COVID-19 is related to plan activities (clinic visits, prescriptions, etc.) and identify acute clinical deterioration in 28% of people. Though nobody among them was troubled by the coronavirus pandemic, deterioration of motor symptoms was reported by 50% of them (an increase in dopaminergic therapy is a need in one-third), while 25% reported increased anxiety (Schirinzi et al., 2020). In a case-controlled survey in Tuscany, during the coronavirus pandemic, motor symptoms deterioration was recorded in 29.6% (N=733) of PD cohort (without COVID-19) with the same deterioration of 24.7% mood, 25% anxiety, and 22.2% sleep deprivation (Del Prete et al., 2020).

New motor symptoms were reported in 18% of patients and at least one existing motor symptom deteriorated in 55% of patients. New as well as worsening non-motor symptoms were reported in all areas: mood (new change 20%, deterioration 51%), cognitive function (new change 7.8%, deterioration 41%), sleep (new change 12%, deterioration 59%)), and autonomic (7.8% new, 29% worsening) (Artusi et al., 2020).

Therefore, there is a piece of strong evidence that COVID-19 has direct and indirect effects on the motor and non-motor symptoms of PD. Compared with the virus itself, for PD patients the indirect effect of coronavirus is more harmful (Fearon & Fasano, 2021).

Elderly people might be susceptible to severe acute respiratory syndrome, especially those who have impaired cough reflex, advanced PD as well as respiratory muscle involvement. Before COVID-19, a study in Japan found that aged people with pneumonia and parkinsonism had a notably lower rate of mortality in the hospital than the people without it (Jo et al., 2018), this suggests that PD people might not be as susceptible as instinctively expected. However, patients' mortality rates in PD have been examined where only 8 studies found PD with COVID-19 and from these 8 studies, 5 are case series, involving 2 to 117 COVID-19 cases (Fearon & Fasano, 2021).

Four out of ten elderly PD patients with COVID-19 died (Average 78.3 years) from the UK and Italy. They also had advanced disease and two patients were treated with intrajejunal levodopa (Antonini et al., 2020). However, out of 6 patients, 2 patients recovered by being treated with advanced therapies (Fearon & Fasano, 2021).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, while comparing hospitalization of PD patients with the three-year follow-up period, the data found that there were 13 deaths in 22.4% of hospitalized patients, in comparison with 6.5% of previously hospitalized patients (Kobylecki et al., 2020). In the hospital mortality rate was 5.2% where there were only three deaths due to COVID-19.

This highlights the potentially serious adverse effects of delays in finding other medical conditions (such as heart disease) (Fearon & Fasano, 2021).

This period of COVID-19 for PD may be represented by the total excess of morbidity and mortality rather than the mortality rate in COVID-19. A multi-center investigation of one hundred seventeen local area residents COVID-19 positive PD patients in Italy, Iran, Spain, and the UK analyzed predictors of results (Fearon & Fasano, 2021). The overall rate of mortality was 19.7%, predictors of the poor outcome included coexistent dementia rate 26.1% vs. 8.5%, p = 0.049, PD time span was 11.7 ± 8.8 vs. 6 ± 5.4 years where p = 0.029, also expand mortality with hypertension that was 63.6% vs. 37.6%, p = 0.054. Therefore, although all-cause mortality is lower than in previous studies, patients with advanced PD are again at higher risk. In an earlier study, they noticed patients with PD and familial controls did not have a crucial distinction in death rates which was 5.7% vs. 7.6%, p = 0.20 (Fasano, Cereda, et al., 2020). Additionally, 14% (N-7) and 75% (N=8) rate of mortality was reported by two other Italian studies (Del Prete et al., 2020). In these studies, fewer numbers of infected people were included which focus on the struggles in making meaningful estimates of the results. Comparing the results of 29 severe COVID-19 positive PD people (admitted to the hospital or died) with 182 moderately COVID-19 / without COVID-19 patients, the results showed that there was a positive correlation between adverse effects and hospitalization (28% vs. 5 %, p<0.0001), dementia (38% vs. 15%, p=0.0026), coexisting tumors (10% vs. 2%, p = 0.0353), as well as a negative connection with dopamine agonists use (17% vs. 74%, p = 0.0155), whereas there is no correlation with dementia and dopamine agonist use has been observed (Sainz-Amo et al., 2020). This study found 21% overall mortality.

The PD patients' mortality data with COVID-19 infection is still inconclusive, and the numbers are between 5.2% and 100% (Table-2). In the hospital mortality rate is higher in patients with the neurological disorder in comparison with non-neurological in COVID-19, ranging from

29.7% to 44.8% (Frontera et al., 2021; García-Azorín et al., 2020). In such situation, questionnaires along with telephone-based surveys are in danger of bias because they may overlook the most severe patients who have been sick for a long time. At the same time, hospitalized patients with minor cases might overestimate the overall mortality in such a specific cohort (Fearon & Fasano, 2021).

Table 2: Ongoing research on mortality data related to COVID-19 in PD

Study Design	Total PD sample	PD	Controls	Risk factors	Reference
Phone survey	1486 (105 COVID+)	5.7%	7.6%	NA	(Fasano, Cereda, et al., 2020)
Phone survey	1407 (8 COVID+)	75%	NA	NA	(Artusi et al., 2020)
Phone survey	740 (7 COVID+)	14%	NA	NA	(Del Prete et al., 2020)
Single-center case series	211 (33 COVID+)	21%	NA	Cancer, hospital admission (no DA use, dementia)	(Sainz-Amo et al., 2020)
Multicenter case series	117 (117 COVID+)	19.7%	NA	Dementia, hypertension, disease duration	(Fasano, Cereda, et al., 2020)
Inpatients	58 (3 COVID+)	5.2%	NA	NA	(Kobylecki et al., 2020)
Case series	10 (10 COVID+)	40%	NA	Age, disease duration, use of advanced therapies	(Antonini et al., 2020)
Case series	2 (2 COVID+)	100%	NA	STN DBS	(Hainque & Grabli, 2020)

Treatment options for Parkinson's Disease and COVID-19 with possible interconnections

6.1 Currently available treatments for PD patients

Presently, no disease-modifying treatment is available for PD, so the treatment is mainly composed of dopaminergic drugs and most of time used drugs for these preparations are levodopa, the dopamine precursor and to reduce certain side effects like nausea these drugs are given in conjunction with a dopa-decarboxylase inhibitor (Stoker et al., 2018). Ropinirole and rotigotine, both dopamine agonists, are also used. Rasagiline and selegiline are examples of MAO-B (Monoamine oxidase B) inhibitors, and entacapone is the example of COMT (catechol-O-methyltransferase) inhibitors that could be used to decrease endogenous dopamine metabolism. In the striatum, these medicines restored dopaminergic activity that indicates motor characteristics development in PD patients. In some situations, these medicines are disabling for numerous people because of their incapability to cure several non-motor characteristics. Undeniably, motor symptoms like postural hypotension as well as neuropsychiatric issues could worsen due to the therapies in certain situations (Kujawa et al., 2000; B. K. Young et al., 1997).

Some motor characteristics of PD can be improved by these medicines. Besides, long-term use of levodopa (early stage) cause significant adverse effects. It is believed that the continuous flow of non-physiological dopamine into the striatum is responsible for the abnormal involuntary jerky movements also called dyskinesias and uncertain absorption of the drug is responsible for motor function fluctuations as well as into the brain irregular transit of levodopa, resulting in the so-called on-off phenomena (Nutt et al., 1984). Neuropsychiatric adverse effects like hallucinations and problems in impulse control could develop when these

drugs are delivered to the brain except the striatum as they cause off-target effects (Stoker et al., 2018; Voon et al., 2009).

To control the movement disorder of PD, deep brain stimulation (DBS) is another valid way. Unfortunately, for several non-motor indications, it does not work well (Kalia et al., 2013), and only for a few PD cases, this medication is appropriate. However, speech difficulty and psychological disruption, as well as the general hazards involved with a neurosurgical surgery are additional potentially significant adverse effects of it though the method is risk free (Benabid, 2003).

One strategy of conveying dopamine more physiologically could be the levodopa-intestinal gel use, and it leads to a better prediction of dopamine release than oral formulation. Motor adverse effects of dopaminergic medication could decrease by this method. Unfortunately, for general usage, it is prohibitively costly and fraught with difficulties due to the surgery required for installation (Olanow et al., 2014). Furthermore, it is unacceptable for many people to connect with a device that should endue regularly like DBS and apomorphine pumps (Stoker et al., 2018).

So, while there are successful therapy choices for the motor characteristics of PD, they come with major drawbacks, and none can reduce disease progression or ameliorate the debilitating non-motor symptoms (Stoker et al., 2018).

Table 3: Clinically available anti-Parkinson's drugs, their adverse reactions (ADR) and mechanism of actions (MOA)

Drugs	MOA	ADR	References	
Levodopa	DOPA decarboxylase in the dopaminergic neuron of the CNS metabolizes this prodrug to dopamine.	Anorexia and nausea, hypotension, tachycardia and ventricular extra systoles, anxiety, depression, mood change and psychosis	(Handa et al., 2019; Jost et al., 2020; Nakaki, 2017)	
Entacapone and Tolcapone	Inhibit levodopa metabolism produced by COMT.	Postural hypotension, diarrhea, nausea, anorexia along with dyskinesia, hallucination and sleep disorder in varying doses	(Castro Caldas et al., 2018; Ha et al., 2017; van der Velden et al., 2018)	
Bromocriptine, Ropinirone, Pramipaxole, Rotigotine and Apomorphine	Dopamine agonists	Sedation, hallucination, confusion, nausea and hypotension, pulmonary and retroperitoneal fibrosis	(Borovac, 2016; Siddiqui et al., 2018; You et al., 2018)	
Selegiline and Rasagiline	Selectively block MAO-B, resulting in an increase in dopamine levels in the brain.	Hypertension; insomnia in many patients	(Anwar et al., 2020; Bundgaard et al., 2016; Finberg, 2019; Sridhar et al., 2018)	
Amantadine	Dopamine release is increased, cholinergic receptors are blocked, and NMDA receptors are inhibited.	Hallucination, confusion, agitation, and restlessness.	(Fryml et al., 2017; Nikolaus et al., 2019; Oertel et al., 2017)	
Benztropine, Trihexyphenidyl, Procyclidine and Biperiden	Antimuscarinic medications inhibit acetylcholine receptors and restore the acetylcholine/dopamine ratio equilibrium.	Constipation, dryness of mouth and visual disturbance in PD patients.	(Kim et al., 2017; Nishtala et al., 2016)	

6.2 Repurposed drugs for COVID-19

Currently there are no medicines that have therapeutic or preventive effects in patients infected with or suspected of having COVID-19. Hundreds clinical trials should be done by using existing repurposed drugs. In the current context, drug repurposing might be viewed as a potential therapy option for COVID-19 (Anwar et al., 2020).

Remdesivir is now licensed for the treatment of COVID-19. It is a prodrug that is activated to C-adenosine triphosphate and have selective action against host polymerase against RNA viruses such as Coronaviridae and Flaviviridae, including the Ebola virus (Barkoff & Mousa, 2021). At present, no curable drugs available for COVID-19 disease as a result researchers are testing a variety of possible treatments (Anwar et al., 2020). Some of these are mentioned below.

6.2.1 Favipiravir (FPV)

According to information collected by Dong and colleagues from a Chinese news station, favirpiravir was approved for use against SARS-CoV-2 infected patients in China on February 15, 2020, because it significantly reduced the disease of SARS-CoV-2 infected patients (Dong et al., 2020). It operates by blocking the enzyme RNA polymerase (Zhao et al., 2015).

6.2.2 Monoclonal Antibodies

COVID-19 possesses a spike protein on its surface that aids viral attachment and entry into human cells. A few monoclonal antibodies have been designed that attach with the viral spike protein and prevent it from infecting cells of human. An intravenous (IV) infusion of a monoclonal antibody can be given to a coronavirus infected patient. Bamlanivimab plus etesevimab as well as casirivimab plus imdevimab are two combination items approved by the FDA for the treatment of mild to moderate COVID-19 in non-hospitalized patients with

laboratory confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection who are at high risk of progressing to severe disease and/or hospitalization (Lloyd et al., 2021).

6.2.3 Chloroquine (CQ) and Hydroxychloroquine (HCQ)

Emergency use of CQ and HCQ has been stopped for the coronavirus positive patients by the United States Food and Drug Administration. CQ and HCQ both are weak bases that raise the acidic intracellular organelles pH for example lysosomes/endosomes, which require a low pH for development as well as function. Furthermore, CQ was discovered to generate alterations in the glycosylation of the ACE2 spike protein and receptor, which eventually prevents the entry step and the post-entry phase of COVID-19 and HCQ demonstrated the capacity to exert the same mechanism (Saghir et al., 2021).

6.2.4 Convalescent plasma transfusion

It is useful for severely ill COVID-19 patients (Shen et al., 2020) and already been utilized in the treatment of SARS infection. In one uncontrolled research of five severely sick COVID-19 patients, the delivery of plasma containing neutralized antibodies demonstrated encouraging effects in terms of these patients' clinical state (Chen et al., 2020). A meta-analysis of plasma treatment for SARS as well as influenza found that it was related with a lower death rate (95 percent CI), minimal side effects, and a low risk. However, the efficacy of plasma treatment in PD patients with COVID-19 is yet unknown and is under clinical trial (Parker et al., 2020).

6.3 Drugs for PD patients infected with COVID-19

6.3.1 Favipiravir (FPV)

It is difficult to determine the appropriate dose of favipiravir for those above the age of 60, particularly PD sufferers because most of the PD patients might have one or more chronic disease such as hypertension, diabetes along with other complications (Anwar et al., 2020). Also, COVID-19 is frequently linked with acute respiratory distress. So, it is very

crucial to understand the drug interaction for such patients. Favipiravir interacts with acetaminophen because of the inhibition of sulphate transferase in the liver, which makes it very important to understand the drug interaction for the PD patients before recommending this drug. Aldehyde oxidase (AO) metabolizes FPV in the cytosol. PD patients on any of AO inhibitors like cimetidine, calcium channel blocker, antiarrhythmic drug propafenone or any other tricyclic antidepressant need to adjust the dose before going for FPV (Zhao et al., 2015).

6.3.2 Azithromycin (AZM)

In the treatment of lung infection, AZM is also found to have anti-inflammatory action via suppressing IL-6. This impact has the potential to alleviate the inflammatory process produced by COVID-19 (Gérard et al., 2020). Thus, it functions as a medication with the ability to eliminate senescent cells up to 97 percent of the time. It works as an anti-fibrotic agent in cystic fibrosis patients by targeting myofibroblast cells. Fibrosis is an age-related condition characterized by an enhancement in the number of myofibroblast cells (Song et al., 2020). PD is also an age-related condition, and an increase in myofibroblast cells cannot be ruled out in such individuals. It has been demonstrated that AZM, a regularly used antibiotic that suppresses viral replication and IL-6 production, can be utilized as an option in the treatment of COVID-19 illness in PD (Anwar et al., 2020).

6.3.3 Amantadine

Amantadine was the first FDA-approved medicine in the United States, and it is the only medicine that indicates its dual function in PD and COVID-19 treatment (Anwar et al., 2020; Aranda-Abreu et al., 2021). It affects various neurotransmitters implicated in PD, including an increase in dopamine release (Nikolaus et al., 2019), blocks cholinergic receptors (Fryml et al., 2017), and inhibits N-methyl D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors (Oertel et al., 2017). Thus, it was

employed to counteract the effects of COVID-19 through two separate processes (Butterworth, 2020), namely:

Down-regulation of host cell proteases not restricted to cathepsin L because inadequate fusion of viral and host cell membrane that leads to impaired viral genome release into the host cell's cytoplasm. Reduced viral entry can reduce viral load in COVID-19 patients, leading to improved clinical outcomes. To determine the amantadine therapeutic effectiveness for COVID-19 positive patients appropriately planned, proper clinical studies are required (Butterworth, 2020).

It is a potent noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist. Experiments on coronaviruses showed these type of antagonist can restrict viral replication as well as develop neurological symptoms. In mammalian lungs and airways these receptors were found. Also, in various kinds of acute lung damage and pathogenesis of the acute respiratory distress syndrome these potent noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist is worked by the activation of NMDA receptors (Li et al., 2020).

However, this medication has been linked to side effects such as hallucination, disorientation, anxiety, and restlessness (Grieb et al., 2021).

6.3.3.1 Link among Amantadine, COVID-19 and PD

Amantadine is advantageous due to its promotion of dopaminergic synaptic activation. Several processes, including increased dopamine synthesis, turnover, and release, have been hypothesized. Positron Emission Tomography (PET) studies in Parkinson's disease patients give data consistent with the idea that amantadine increases dopamine production as a result of antagonism of the NMDA subtype of glutamate receptors in the brain (Deep et al., 1999; Kong et al., 2017).

Even though it has not been resolved whether amantadine's NMDA receptor antagonist property is related with protective effect against COVID-19 or its neurological intricacies, there is proof to recommend that NMDA receptor antagonist might be useful as a medication of other coronaviruses. For instance, the human coronavirus strain HCoV-OC43 can affect neural cells where it initiates neuroinflammatory along with neurodegenerative systems and non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist memantin (same structure of amantadine) can restrict viral replication and enhance neurological indications of HCoV-OC43-infected mice. Besides, NMDA receptors in the lungs along with airway may support the signaling mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of acute lung injury as well as the acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) which is normal for coronavirus infections (Butterworth, 2020; Desforges et al., 2019).

Impact on PD patient care due to COVID-19 Pandemic

COVID-19 has been a big issue for people with PD because it is related to neurological symptoms though it is a respiratory disorder. Because of the COVID-19, the medical care of PD patients has been affected throughout the globe though it is not frequent like other diseases (Elbeddini et al., 2020).

7.1 Effects of social distancing and lockdown on PD patients' health

Social isolation and its impact on PD are a matter of concern and are called the "hidden sorrow" of the pandemic. Also, it is responsible for increased anxiety, worsening of depression that existed previously, the negative consequence of stress on PD, and a lack of physical activity like exercise. One in every three patients in the hospital developed a posttraumatic stress disorder, with 15% acquiring despair and anxiety after a year, and more than 15% experienced exhaustion during the earlier SARS and MERS epidemics (Rogers et al., 2020). Due to the coronavirus-related lockup, anxiety and subsequent stress in PD patients have been observed in many countries by telephone consultations (Sulzer et al., 2020).

The coronavirus pandemic has brought about huge changes to the normal schedules of Parkinson's disease patients, with social separation and lockdowns set up around the world. Numerous PD patients suffer from a detrimental influence on mental health. In comparison to matched controls PD patients' experienced greater stress, sadness, anxiety, and quality of life throughout the pandemic which is reported by a movement disorder clinic in Cairo (Shalash et al., 2020).

7.1.1 Stress

The danger of chronic stress is intrinsically raised because of the pathophysiology of PD which decrease the level of dopamine that affects the mechanism of stress management (Helmich & Bloem, 2020). Stress is an alarming issue for PD people as it is responsible for both acute and long-term repercussions for PD sufferers. Motor symptoms like tremor, gait and dyskinesia can be worsen by physiological stress (Hemmerle et al., 2012). Dopaminergic drugs effect decreased by stress, for example levodopa effects on Parkinson's tremor (Zach et al., 2017). A latent a hypokinetic-rigid syndrome might be revealed by increased stress, Probably leading to new Parkinson's disease diagnosis during COVID-19 (Bhidayasiri et al., 2020).

7.1.2 Anxiety

In PD patients' anxiety is the most prevalent neuropsychiatric problems. During the pandemic, 25.5 percent of cases recorded severe anxiety and 4.8 percent of controls in PD people along with the age-coordinated general public in Iran (Salari et al., 2020). There was a strong association between the anxiety intensity in people with PD along with their fear of coronavirus infection, which was much greater than in controls (Schirinzi et al., 2020).

7.1.3 Reduced Mobility

During the pandemic, preventative measures decreased mobility and physical activity that is responsible for lazy and inactive lifestyles. It is significant because physical activity can reduce clinical PD symptom development and related stress (Helmich & Bloem, 2020). Hence, promoting home-based workouts like virtual fitness exercise can play significant role in keeping up with the general wellbeing of PD patients during COVID-19 period (Elbeddini et al., 2020).

Anxiety, stress, loneliness, and physical inactivity are more harmful when combined in PD patients (Helmich & Bloem, 2020). Chronic stress has promoted dopaminergic cell death in

PD experimental mice perhaps, exacerbating the neuropathological alterations that cause the disease (van der Kolk et al., 2019).

7.2 Breakdown of the medical care system

The coronavirus pandemic has an indirect impact on PD sufferers as it produces disruption in medical-care systems. For the care of PD patients neurologists play a vital role (Papa et al., 2020). But, there is a shortage of neurologists, who may have to care for COVID-19 patients, particularly in areas where medical personnel are few. This has reduced time for PD patient's care. Non-urgent surgical operations have been postponed in several medical communities to avoid patients from becoming infected. DBS, the initiation of LCIG, and apomorphine pumps that are elective surgical operations have been postponed in PD patients (Fasano, Antonini, et al., 2020). Perhaps, this leads to increased PD symptoms as these delays prevent PD patients from getting critical drugs that help control their illness. However, there was no negative effects of COVID-19 on the worldwide delivery of medicine for PD patients (Papa et al., 2020).

7.3 Health care system shifted to virtual care for PD Patients

One other impact of the coronavirus pandemic is the quick adoption of telemedicine in various medical-care systems, and to offer virtual care communication technology is employed. Numerous PD patients and neurologists have changed to telemedicine arrangements, especially coordinated videoconferencing. Telemedicine and telerehabilitation have been widely researched and verified for usage in assessing PD patients (Chirra et al., 2019). However, because muscular stiffness and retropulsion pull tests cannot be correctly assessed through videoconferencing the Movement Disorder Society – Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (MDS-UPDRS) is not suggested for virtual examinations (Fasano, Antonini, et al., 2020; Goetz

et al., 2020). Rather, a modified version of the MDS-UPDRS that does not include stiffness and retropulsion pull tests is used (Abdolahi et al., 2013).

Telemedicine benefits are access to experts, comfortable, saves time, and less expensive (Adams et al., 2020). Nonetheless, telemedicine has certain limitations. In telemedicine the main problems are lack of active care, inadequate intimacy and technical challenges and 781 people with PD reported this as they joined in an online survey (Spear et al., 2019). Providing virtual care is difficult for less developed nations because ensuring good internet connection and video with higher quality is not easy for them. Nowadays emails are widely available so it is possible to avoid this issue by communicating with neurologists through email, for example to capture symptoms of PD asynchronous videos could be utilized (Adams et al., 2020).

Remote treatment is practical, effective and helpful for PD people (Adams et al., 2020). However, it is crucial to consider the vital limitations to these studies. Candidates had usually mild disease severity with UPDRS part III scores ranging from 24.2–44.1 (128 maximum), also lived in advanced nations such as the United States, Canada, Italy, and Japan, suggesting that the PD population may be underestimated (Adams et al., 2020). More serious patients with chronic tremor, stiffness, and speech problems who were not represented in the research may have a variety of issues navigating telemedicine. Future study with complicated PD cases and those living in under developed nations is needed to acquire a good comprehensive knowledge about telemedicine role in PD patient treatment (Elbeddini et al., 2020).

Telemedicine still not established for therapies that requires devices like DBS or infusion pump devices as a result virtual management of devices in this therapies is a big challenge (Papa et al., 2020). Patients must be taught to change device settings, check battery life, and solve device faults. With these additional obstacles, improvement of remote access to device programming interest is growing that might reduce the technical load on PD patients (Elbeddini et al., 2020).

7.4 Slow progress in novel PD treatment because of COVID-19

One more unintended outcome of the SARS-CoV-2 virus is the influence on PD analysis and treatment trials. Because of COVID-19, several biopharmaceutical firms have postponed timetables for pipeline Parkinson's treatments. Also, it may impose an extra load on patients whose Parkinsonism could not be managed by the existing drugs in the drugstore. So, five pipeline drugs are discussed here.

- i. Firstly, The FDA authorized Neurocrine Bioscience Inc's innovative medicine ONGENTYS (opicapone) as an add-on therapy to levodopa/carvidopa in Parkinson's disease people suffering "off" periods, although its sale in the US will be delayed owing to COVID-19 (Elbeddini et al., 2020).
- ii. Secondly, the starting of a Phase IIb/III clinical study of dipraglurant, a new orally accessible metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) inhibitor has been delayed by Addex Therapeutics, for (PD) people with levodopa-induced dyskinesias (Elbeddini et al., 2020).
- Thirdly, for Denali Therapeutics' backup pipeline drug DNL151 the entrance for Phase 1 as well as Phase 1b trials was halted. This tiny chemical inhibits LRRK2 that is a catalyst implicated in lysosomal dysfunction and neurodegeneration (Elbeddini et al., 2020).
- iv. Fourthly, patient enrolment in the Phase II RESTORE-1 Trial Neurocine's NBIb-1817 experimental gene therapy medication has temporarily halted. To transfer the aromatic l-amino acid decarboxylase (AADC) gene into putamen neurons (directly) is the goal of this innovative therapy, where the AADC enzyme would generate to convert levodopa to dopamine (Elbeddini et al., 2020).

v. Fifthly, in the proceeding Phase of the 1b/2a trial of RTB101 in PD people resTORbio has revealed slowdown in enrollment of its 5th cohort. RTB101 is a tiny chemical molecule that deters the rapamycin complex 1 (TORC1), which helps in decreasing neurologic function (Elbeddini et al., 2020).

Unfortunately, these delays may have a severe impact on patients who are desperate for novel Parkinson's disease medications to control their illness.

Chapter 8

8.1 Conclusion

The coronavirus pandemic has impacted all aspects of the healthcare system due to its uncertainty. People with neurological disorders especially PD patients suffer a lot because of COVID-19. Besides, early detection of COVID-19 in PD patients is difficult because of the similarities in their sign and symptoms. At the same time, COVID-19 increase the rate of mortality in patients with PD as it increase the chance of pneumonia and worsen the motor symptoms. Elderly patients are more prone to death because age is a risk factor of COVID-19 as it can lead to acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS). For PD, currently there is no disease modifying treatment and most of the drugs are used to reduce the symptoms to give temporary relief. For COVID-19 there is also no medicines that have curable therapeutic or preventive effects on patients. Luckily, amantadine is the only medicine that indicates its dual function in PD and COVID-19. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, the medical care of PD patients has been affected throughout the globe as people with PD are more sensitive to the direct and indirect effects of COVID-19. Slow progress in novel PD treatment is one effect of COVID-19. Because of the speed with which COVID-19 has spread over the world, establishing big well-designed studies to investigate these problems in a scientific manner has been difficult. Recently available treatment options, clinical signs and symptoms, and several mechanisms are still necessary. However, social isolation and its impact on PD are a matter of concern as it is responsible for increased anxiety, worsening of depression, and stress on PD patients. Finally, it can be concluded that the purpose of this review is to identify the treatment options of PD patients with or without COVID-19, impact and consequences of COVID-19 pandemic on PD patients. The significant prognostic adverse effects of COVID-19 on PD and the present-day treatment options, clinical presentation and various mechanisms still remain the need of the hour.

8.2 Future Directions

This review has been written with a view to facilitate the work of future researchers who want to conduct research on the possible links in the mechanism of PD and COVID-19, treatment of PD patients with COVID-19, and proper care of PD patients in the COVID-19 pandemic. Besides, the information about treatment of these diseases will help them to write more informative research papers as well as possible interaction among drugs will be revealed to the people of the world. Moreover, it will serve as a future documentation for other researchers as well.

References

- Abdolahi, A., Scoglio, N., Killoran, A., Dorsey, E. R., & Biglan, K. M. (2013). Potential reliability and validity of a modified version of the Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale that could be administered remotely. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, *19*(2), 218–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.10.008
- Adams, J. L., Myers, T. L., Waddell, E. M., Spear, K. L., & Schneider, R. B. (2020).

 Telemedicine: a Valuable Tool in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Current Geriatrics Reports*, 9(2), 72–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13670-020-00311-z
- Alimohamadi, Y., Sepandi, M., Taghdir, M., & Hosamirudsari, H. (2020). Determine the most common clinical symptoms in COVID-19 patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Preventive Medicine and Hygiene*, 61(3), E304–E312. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2020.61.3.1530
- Amin Tabish, S. (2020). Life and Livelihood during the COVID 19 Pandemic. *Clinical Immunology and Immunotherapy*, 6(3), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.24966/ciit-8844/1000035
- Antonini, A., Leta, V., Teo, J., & Chaudhuri, K. R. (2020). Outcome of Parkinson's Disease Patients Affected by COVID-19. *Movement Disorders*, 35(6), 905–908. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28104
- Anwar, F., Naqvi, S., Al-Abbasi, F. A., Neelofar, N., Kumar, V., Sahoo, A., & Kamal, M. A. (2020). Targeting COVID-19 in Parkinson's patients: Drugs repurposed. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 27(September). https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867327666200903115138
- Aranda-Abreu, G. E., Aranda-Martínez, J. D., & Araújo, R. (2021). Use of amantadine in a patient with SARS-CoV-2. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 93(1), 110–111. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26179
- Artusi, C. A., Romagnolo, A., Imbalzano, G., Marchet, A., Zibetti, M., Rizzone, M. G., &

- Lopiano, L. (2020). COVID-19 in Parkinson's disease: Report on prevalence and outcome. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, 80(August), 7–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2020.09.008
- Barkoff, C. M., & Mousa, S. A. (2021). Pharmacotherapy in covid 19: Potential impact of targeting the complement system. *Biomedicines*, 9(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9010011
- Benabid, A. L. (2003). Deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, *13*(6), 696–706. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2003.11.001
- Bhidayasiri, R., Virameteekul, S., Kim, J. M., Pal, P. K., & Chung, S. J. (2020). COVID-19:

 An early review of its global impact and considerations for parkinson's disease patient care. *Journal of Movement Disorders*, 13(2), 105–114. https://doi.org/10.14802/jmd.20042
- Borovac, J. A. (2016). Side effects of a dopamine agonist therapy for Parkinson's disease: A mini-review of clinical pharmacology. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 89(1), 37–47.
- Brundin, P., Nath, A., & Beckham, J. D. (2020). Is COVID-19 a Perfect Storm for Parkinson's Disease? *Trends in Neurosciences*, 43(12), 931–933. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2020.10.009
- Bundgaard, C., Montezinho, L. P., Anderson, N., Thomsen, C., & Mørk, A. (2016). Selegiline induces a wake promoting effect in rats which is related to formation of its active metabolites. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *150–151*, 147–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2016.10.003
- Butterworth, R. F. (2020). Amantadine, Parkinson's Disease and COVID-19. 2020(02), 21–26.
- Castro Caldas, A., Teodoro, T., & Ferreira, J. J. (2018). The launch of opicapone for

- Parkinson's disease: negatives versus positives. *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety*, 17(3), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/14740338.2018.1433659
- Chen, N., Zhou, M., Dong, X., Qu, J., Gong, F., Han, Y., Qiu, Y., Wang, J., Liu, Y., Wei, Y., Xia, J., Yu, T., Zhang, X., & Zhang, L. (2020). Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *The Lancet*, 395(10223), 507–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7
- Chirra, M., Marsili, L., Wattley, L., Sokol, L. L., Keeling, E., Maule, S., Sobrero, G., Artusi,
 C. A., Romagnolo, A., Zibetti, M., Lopiano, L., Espay, A. J., Obeidat, A. Z., & Merola,
 A. (2019). Telemedicine in Neurological Disorders: Opportunities and Challenges.
 Telemedicine and E-Health, 25(7), 541–550. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2018.0101
- Cilia, R., Bonvegna, S., Straccia, G., Andreasi, N. G., Elia, A. E., Romito, L. M., Devigili, G., Cereda, E., & Eleopra, R. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 on Parkinson's Disease Clinical Features: A Community-Based Case-Control Study. *Movement Disorders*, 35(8), 1287–1292. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28170
- Cohen, M. E., Eichel, R., Steiner-Birmanns, B., Janah, A., Ioshpa, M., Bar-Shalom, R., Paul, J. J., Gaber, H., Skrahina, V., Bornstein, N. M., & Yahalom, G. (2020). A case of probable Parkinson's disease after SARS-CoV-2 infection. *The Lancet Neurology*, *19*(10), 804–805. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30305-7
- Cohen, S., Rossi, F. M., Caperchione, E., & Brusca, I. (2021). Debate: If not now, then when?

 Covid-19 as an accelerator for public sector accrual accounting in Europe. *Public Money*and Management, 41(1), 10–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540962.2021.1834714
- Collier, M. E., Zhang, S., Scrutton, N. S., & Giorgini, F. (2021). Inflammation control and improvement of cognitive function in COVID-19 infections: is there a role for kynurenine
 3-monooxygenase inhibition? *Drug Discovery Today*, 26(6), 1473–1481.

- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2021.02.009
- da Silva, C. C., de Lima, C. L., da Silva, A. C. G., Silva, E. L., Marques, G. S., de Araújo, L. J. B., Albuquerque Júnior, L. A., de Souza, S. B. J., de Santana, M. A., Gomes, J. C., Barbosa, V. A. de F., Musah, A., Kostkova, P., dos Santos, W. P., & da Silva Filho, A. G. (2021). Covid-19 Dynamic Monitoring and Real-Time Spatio-Temporal Forecasting. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 9(April), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.641253
- Deep, P., Dagher, A., Sadikot, A., Gjedde, A., & Cumming, P. (1999). Stimulation of dopa decarboxylase activity in striatum of healthy human brain secondary to NMDA receptor antagonism with a low dose of amantadine. *Synapse*, *34*(4), 313–318. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2396(19991215)34:4<313::AID-SYN7>3.0.CO;2-1
- Del Prete, E., Francesconi, A., Palermo, G., Mazzucchi, S., Frosini, D., Morganti, R., Coleschi,
 P., Raglione, L. M., Vanni, P., Ramat, S., Novelli, A., Napolitano, A., Battisti, C.,
 Giuntini, M., Rossi, C., Menichetti, C., Ulivelli, M., De Franco, V., Rossi, S., ... Ceravolo,
 R. (2020). Prevalence and impact of COVID-19 in Parkinson's disease: evidence from a
 multi-center survey in Tuscany region. *Journal of Neurology*, 0123456789.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-020-10002-6
- Desforges, M., Le Coupanec, A., Dubeau, P., Bourgouin, A., Lajoie, L., Dubé, M., & Talbot, P. J. (2019). Human coronaviruses and other respiratory viruses: Underestimated opportunistic pathogens of the central nervous system? *Viruses*, *12*(1), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3390/v12010014
- Dong, L., Hu, S., & Gao, J. (2020). Discovering drugs to treat coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Drug Discoveries & Therapeutics*, 14(1), 58–60. https://doi.org/10.5582/ddt.2020.01012
- Elbeddini, A., To, A., Tayefehchamani, Y., & Wen, C. (2020). Potential impact and challenges associated with Parkinson's disease patient care amidst the COVID-19 global pandemic.

- *Journal of Clinical Movement Disorders*, 7(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40734-020-00089-4
- Faber, I., Brandão, P. R. P., Menegatti, F., de Carvalho Bispo, D. D., Maluf, F. B., & Cardoso,
 F. (2020). Coronavirus Disease 2019 and Parkinsonism: A Non-post-encephalitic Case.
 Movement Disorders, 35(10), 1721–1722. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28277
- Fasano, A., Antonini, A., Katzenschlager, R., Krack, P., Odin, P., Evans, A. H., Foltynie, T.,
 Volkmann, J., & Merello, M. (2020). Management of Advanced Therapies in Parkinson's
 Disease Patients in Times of Humanitarian Crisis: The COVID-19 Experience. *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice*, 7(4), 361–372. https://doi.org/10.1002/mdc3.12965
- Fasano, A., Cereda, E., Barichella, M., Cassani, E., Ferri, V., Zecchinelli, A. L., & Pezzoli, G. (2020). COVID-19 in Parkinson's Disease Patients Living in Lombardy, Italy. *Movement Disorders*, 35(7), 1089–1093. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28176
- Fazzini, E., Fleming, J., & Fahn, S. (1992). Cerebrospinal fluid antibodies to coronavirus in patients with Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders*, 7(2), 153–158. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.870070210
- Fearon, C., & Fasano, A. (2021). Parkinson's Disease and the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Parkinson's Disease*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/jpd-202320
- Finberg, J. P. M. (2019). Inhibitors of MAO-B and COMT: their effects on brain dopamine levels and uses in Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 126(4), 433–448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00702-018-1952-7
- Fishman, P. S., Gass, J. S., Swoveland, P. T., Lavi, E., Highkin, M. K., & Weiss, S. R. (1985).

 Infection of the basal ganglia by a murine coronavirus. *Science*, 229(4716), 877–879.

 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.2992088
- Frontera, J. A., Sabadia, S., Lalchan, R., Fang, T., Flusty, B., Millar-Vernetti, P., Snyder, T., Berger, S., Yang, D., Granger, A., Morgan, N., Patel, P., Gutman, J., Melmed, K.,

- Agarwal, S., Bokhari, M., Andino, A., Valdes, E., Omari, M., ... Galetta, S. (2021). A Prospective Study of Neurologic Disorders in Hospitalized Patients With COVID-19 in New York City. In *Neurology* (Vol. 96, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000000010979
- García-Azorín, D., Martínez-Pías, E., Trigo, J., Hernández-Pérez, I., Valle-Peñacoba, G.,
 Talavera, B., Simón-Campo, P., de Lera, M., Chavarría-Miranda, A., López-Sanz, C.,
 Gutiérrez-Sánchez, M., Martínez-Velasco, E., Pedraza, M., Sierra, Á., Gómez-Vicente,
 B., Guerrero, Á., Ezpeleta, D., Peñarrubia, M. J., Gómez-Herreras, J. I., ... Arenillas, J.
 F. (2020). Neurological Comorbidity Is a Predictor of Death in Covid-19 Disease: A
 Cohort Study on 576 Patients. Frontiers in Neurology, 11(July), 1–8.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2020.00781
- Gérard, A., Romani, S., Fresse, A., Viard, D., Parassol, N., Granvuillemin, A., Chouchana, L., Rocher, F., & Drici, M.-D. (2020). "Off-label" use of hydroxychloroquine, azithromycin, lopinavir-ritonavir and chloroquine in COVID-19: A survey of cardiac adverse drug reactions by the French Network of Pharmacovigilance Centers. *Therapies*, 75(4), 371–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.therap.2020.05.002
- Goetz, C. G., Stebbins, G. T., & Luo, S. (2020). Movement Disorder Society–Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale Use in the Covid-19 Era. *Movement Disorders*, 35(6), 911. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28094
- Grieb, P., Świątkiewicz, M., Prus, K., & Rejdak, K. (2021). Amantadine for COVID-19. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 61(3), 412–413. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.1802

- Ha, S. K., Lee, J. A., Cho, E. J., & Choi, I. (2017). Effects of Catechol O-Methyl Transferase Inhibition on Anti-Inflammatory Activity of Luteolin Metabolites. *Journal of Food Science*, 82(2), 545–552. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.13620
- Hainque, E., & Grabli, D. (2020). Rapid worsening in Parkinson's disease may hide COVID-19 infection. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, 75(April), 126–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2020.05.008
- Handa, K., Kiyohara, S., Yamakawa, T., Ishikawa, K., Hosonuma, M., Sakai, N., Karakawa,
 A., Chatani, M., Tsuji, M., Inagaki, K., Kiuchi, Y., Takami, M., & Negishi-Koga, T.
 (2019). Bone loss caused by dopaminergic degeneration and levodopa treatment in
 Parkinson's disease model mice. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–5.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50336-4
- Heilman, P. L., Wang, E. W., Lewis, M. M., Krzyzanowski, S., Capan, C. D., Burmeister, A.
 R., Du, G., Escobar Galvis, M. L., Brundin, P., Huang, X., & Brundin, L. (2020).
 Tryptophan Metabolites Are Associated With Symptoms and Nigral Pathology in Parkinson's Disease. *Movement Disorders*, 35(11), 2028–2037.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28202
- Helmich, R. C., & Bloem, B. R. (2020). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Parkinson's Disease: Hidden Sorrows and Emerging Opportunities. *Journal of Parkinson's Disease*, 10(2), 351–354. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-202038
- Hemmerle, A. M., Herman, J. P., & Seroogy, K. B. (2012). Stress, depression and Parkinson's disease. *Experimental Neurology*, 233(1), 79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.09.035
- Jankovic, J. (2008). Parkinson's disease: Clinical features and diagnosis. *Journal of Neurology*, *Neurosurgery and Psychiatry*, 79(4), 368–376. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2007.131045
 Jo, T., Yasunaga, H., Michihata, N., Sasabuchi, Y., Hasegawa, W., Takeshima, H., Sakamoto,

- Y., Matsui, H., Fushimi, K., Nagase, T., & Yamauchi, Y. (2018). Influence of Parkinsonism on outcomes of elderly pneumonia patients. *Parkinsonism and Related Disorders*, *54*, 25–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2018.03.028
- Johnson, M. E., Stecher, B., Labrie, V., Brundin, L., & Brundin, P. (2019). Triggers, Facilitators, and Aggravators: Redefining Parkinson's Disease Pathogenesis. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 42(1), 4–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2018.09.007
- Jost, W. H., Altmann, C., Fiesel, T., Becht, B., Ringwald, S., & Hoppe, T. (2020). Influence of levodopa on orthostatic hypotension in Parkinson's disease. *Neurologia i Neurochirurgia Polska*, *54*(2), 200–203. https://doi.org/10.5603/pjnns.a2020.0019
- Kalia, S. K., Sankar, T., & Lozano, A. M. (2013). Deep brain stimulation for Parkinson,s disease and other movement disorders. *Current Opinion in Neurology*, 26(4), 374–380. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.0b013e3283632d08
- Keener, A. M., & Bordelon, Y. M. (2016). Parkinsonism. *Seminars in Neurology*, *36*(4), 330–334. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0036-1585097
- Kim, H. J., Jeon, B. S., & Jenner, P. (2017). Hallmarks of Treatment Aspects: Parkinson's Disease Throughout Centuries Including L-Dopa. In *International Review of Neurobiology* (1st ed., Vol. 132). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2017.01.006
- Kobylecki, C., Jones, T., Lim, C. K., Miller, C., & Thomson, A. M. (2020). Phenomenology and Outcomes of In-Patients With Parkinson's Disease During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. *Movement Disorders*, 35(8), 1295–1296. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28205
- Kong, M., Ba, M., Ren, C., Yu, L., Dong, S., Yu, G., & Liang, H. (2017). An updated metaanalysis of amantadine for treating dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease. *Oncotarget*, 8(34), 57316–57326. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.17622
- Kostić, V. S., Tomić, A., & Ječmenica-Lukić, M. (2016). The Pathophysiology of Fatigue in

- Parkinson's Disease and its Pragmatic Management. *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice*, 3(4), 323–330. https://doi.org/10.1002/mdc3.12343
- Kujawa, K., Leurgans, S., Raman, R., Blasucci, L., & Goetz, C. G. (2000). Acute orthostatic hypotension when starting dopamine agonists in Parkinson's disease. *Archives of Neurology*, 57(10), 1461–1463. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.57.10.1461
- Lechien, J. R., Chiesa-Estomba, C. M., De Siati, D. R., Horoi, M., Le Bon, S. D., Rodriguez, A., Dequanter, D., Blecic, S., El Afia, F., Distinguin, L., Chekkoury-Idrissi, Y., Hans, S., Delgado, I. L., Calvo-Henriquez, C., Lavigne, P., Falanga, C., Barillari, M. R., Cammaroto, G., Khalife, M., ... Saussez, S. (2020). Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mild-to-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 277(8), 2251–2261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-020-05965-1
- Li, Y. C., Bai, W. Z., & Hashikawa, T. (2020). The neuroinvasive potential of SARS-CoV2 may play a role in the respiratory failure of COVID-19 patients. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 92(6), 552–555. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25728
- Lloyd, E. C., Gandhi, T. N., & Petty, L. A. (2021). Monoclonal Antibodies for COVID-19.

 **JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association, 325(10), 1015.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.1225
- Méndez-Guerrero, A., Laespada-García, M. I., Gómez-Grande, A., Ruiz-Ortiz, M., Blanco-Palmero, V. A., Azcarate-Diaz, F. J., Rábano-Suárez, P., Álvarez-Torres, E., de Fuenmayor-Fernández de la Hoz, C. P., Vega Pérez, D., Rodríguez-Montalbán, R., Pérez-Rivilla, A., Sayas Catalán, J., Ramos-González, A., & González de la Aleja, J. (2020). Acute hypokinetic-rigid syndrome following SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Neurology*, 95(15), e2109–e2118. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000000010282
- Nakaki, T. (2017). Drugs That Affect Autonomic Functions or the Extrapyramidal System. In

- Side Effects of Drugs Annual (1st ed., Vol. 39). Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.seda.2017.06.024
- Nikolaus, S., Wittsack, H. J., Beu, M., Antke, C., Hautzel, H., Wickrath, F., Müller-Lutz, A., De Souza Silva, M. A., Huston, J. P., Antoch, G., & Müller, H. W. (2019). Amantadine enhances nigrostriatal and mesolimbic dopamine function in the rat brain in relation to motor and exploratory activity. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 179(January), 156–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2018.12.010
- Nishtala, P. S., Salahudeen, M. S., & Hilmer, S. N. (2016). Anticholinergics: theoretical and clinical overview. In *Expert Opinion on Drug Safety* (Vol. 15, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1517/14740338.2016.1165664
- Nutt, J. G., Woodward, W. R., Hammerstad, J. P., Carter, J. H., & Anderson, J. L. (1984). The "On–Off" Phenomenon in Parkinson's Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 310(8), 483–488. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm198402233100802
- Oertel, W., Eggert, K., Pahwa, R., Tanner, C. M., Hauser, R. A., Trenkwalder, C., Ehret, R., Azulay, J. P., Isaacson, S., Felt, L., & Stempien, M. J. (2017). Randomized, placebocontrolled trial of ADS-5102 (amantadine) extended-release capsules for levodopa-induced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease (EASE LID 3). *Movement Disorders*, 32(12), 1701–1709. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.27131
- Olanow, C. W., Kieburtz, K., Odin, P., Espay, A. J., Standaert, D. G., Fernandez, H. H., Vanagunas, A., Othman, A. A., Widnell, K. L., Robieson, W. Z., Pritchett, Y., Chatamra, K., Benesh, J., Lenz, R. A., & Antonini, A. (2014). Continuous intrajejunal infusion of levodopa-carbidopa intestinal gel for patients with advanced Parkinson's disease: A randomised, controlled, double-blind, double-dummy study. *The Lancet Neurology*, 13(2), 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70293-X
- Papa, S. M., Brundin, P., Fung, V. S. C., Kang, U. J., Burn, D. J., Colosimo, C., Chiang, H. L.,

- Alcalay, R. N., & Trenkwalder, C. (2020). Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Parkinson's Disease and Movement Disorders. *Movement Disorders Clinical Practice*, 7(4), 357–360. https://doi.org/10.1002/mdc3.12953
- Parker, J. E., Martinez, A., Deutsch, G. K., Prabhakar, V., Lising, M., Kapphahn, K. I., Anidi,
 C. M., Neuville, R., Coburn, M., Shah, N., & Bronte-Stewart, H. M. (2020). Safety of
 Plasma Infusions in Parkinson's Disease. *Movement Disorders*, 35(11), 1905–1913.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28198
- Poewe, W., Seppi, K., Tanner, C. M., Halliday, G. M., Brundin, P., Volkmann, J., Schrag, A. E., & Lang, A. E. (2017). Parkinson disease. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, *3*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.13
- Ponsen, M. M., Stoffers, D., Booij, J., Van Eck-Smit, B. L. F., Wolters, E. C., & Berendse, H. W. (2004). Idiopathic hyposmia as a preclinical sign of Parkinson's disease. *Annals of Neurology*, 56(2), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20160
- Rogers, J. P., Chesney, E., Oliver, D., Pollak, T. A., McGuire, P., Fusar-Poli, P., Zandi, M. S., Lewis, G., & David, A. S. (2020). Psychiatric and neuropsychiatric presentations associated with severe coronavirus infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis with comparison to the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(7), 611–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30203-0
- Saghir, S. A. M., Algabri, N. A., Alagawany, M. M., Attia, Y. A., Alyileili, S. R., Elnesr, S. S.,
 Shafi, M. E., Alshargi, O. Y. A., Al-Balagi, N., Alwajeeh, A. S., Alsalahi, O. S. A., Patra,
 A. K., Khafaga, A. F., Negida, A., Noreldin, A., Al-Amarat, W., Almaiman, A. A., El-Tarabily, K. A., & El-Hack, M. E. A. (2021). Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine for the prevention and treatment of covid-19: A fiction, hope or hype? an updated review.
 Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management, 17, 371–387.
 https://doi.org/10.2147/TCRM.S301817

- Sainz-Amo, R., Baena-Álvarez, B., Pareés, I., Sánchez-Díez, G., Pérez-Torre, P., López-Sendón, J. L., Fanjul-Arbos, S., Monreal, E., Corral-Corral, I., García-Barragán, N., Martínez-Castrillo, J. C., Fasano, A., & Alonso-Cánovas, A. (2020). COVID-19 in Parkinson's disease: what holds the key? *Journal of Neurology*, 0123456789, 0–4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-020-10272-0
- Salari, M., Zali, A., Ashrafi, F., Etemadifar, M., Sharma, S., Hajizadeh, N., & Ashourizadeh,
 H. (2020). Incidence of Anxiety in Parkinson's Disease During the Coronavirus Disease
 (COVID-19) Pandemic. *Movement Disorders*, 35(7), 1095–1096.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28116
- Santos-García, D., Oreiro, M., Pérez, P., Fanjul, G., Paz González, J. M., Feal Painceiras, M.
 J., Cores Bartolomé, C., Valdés Aymerich, L., García Sancho, C., & Castellanos Rodrigo,
 M. del M. (2020). Impact of Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic on Parkinson's Disease:
 A Cross-Sectional Survey of 568 Spanish Patients. *Movement Disorders*, 35(10), 1712–1716. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28261
- Schirinzi, T., Cerroni, R., Di Lazzaro, G., Liguori, C., Scalise, S., Bovenzi, R., Conti, M., Garasto, E., Mercuri, N. B., Pierantozzi, M., Pisani, A., & Stefani, A. (2020). Self-reported needs of patients with Parkinson's disease during COVID-19 emergency in Italy. *Neurological Sciences*, 41(6), 1373–1375. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-020-04442-1
- Shalash, A., Roushdy, T., Essam, M., Fathy, M., Dawood, N. L., Abushady, E. M., Elrassas, H., Helmi, A., & Hamid, E. (2020). Mental Health, Physical Activity, and Quality of Life in Parkinson's Disease During COVID-19 Pandemic. *Movement Disorders*, *35*(7), 1097–1099. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28134
- Shen, C., Wang, Z., Zhao, F., Yang, Y., Li, J., Yuan, J., Wang, F., Li, D., Yang, M., Xing, L., Wei, J., Xiao, H., Yang, Y., Qu, J., Qing, L., Chen, L., Xu, Z., Peng, L., Li, Y., ... Liu, L. (2020). Treatment of 5 Critically Ill Patients with COVID-19 with Convalescent Plasma.

- JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association, 323(16), 1582–1589. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.4783
- Siddiqui, S. H., Memon, N. A., & Shanker, R. (2018). Drug-induced movement disorder and confusion associated with duloxetine. *BMJ Case Reports*, 2018, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2016-216746
- Song, S., Lam, E. W. F., Tchkonia, T., Kirkland, J. L., & Sun, Y. (2020). Senescent Cells: Emerging Targets for Human Aging and Age-Related Diseases. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 45(7), 578–592. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2020.03.008
- Spear, K. L., Auinger, P., Simone, R., Ray Dorsey, E., & Francis, J. (2019). Patient Views on Telemedicine for Parkinson Disease. *Journal of Parkinson's Disease*, 9(2), 401–404. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-181557
- Sridhar, V., Gaud, R., Bajaj, A., & Wairkar, S. (2018). Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of intranasally administered selegiline nanoparticles with improved brain delivery in Parkinson's disease. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology, and Medicine*, *14*(8), 2609–2618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nano.2018.08.004
- Standaert, D. G., Saint-Hilaire, M. H., & Thomas, C. A. (2018). Parkinson 'S Disease Handbook. *The American Parkinson Disease Association*, 2(3), 69–73.
- Stoker, T. B., Torsney, K. M., & Barker, R. A. (2018). Emerging treatment approaches for Parkinson's disease. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 12(OCT), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00693
- Sulzer, D., Antonini, A., Leta, V., Nordvig, A., Smeyne, R. J., Goldman, J. E., Al-Dalahmah,
 O., Zecca, L., Sette, A., Bubacco, L., Meucci, O., Moro, E., Harms, A. S., Xu, Y., Fahn,
 S., & Ray Chaudhuri, K. (2020). COVID-19 and possible links with Parkinson's disease and parkinsonism: from bench to bedside. *Npj Parkinson's Disease*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41531-020-00123-0

- Tarakad, A., & Jankovic, J. (2017). Anosmia and Ageusia in Parkinson's Disease. In International Review of Neurobiology (1st ed., Vol. 133). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irn.2017.05.028
- Thomas, T., Stefanoni, D., Reisz, J. A., Nemkov, T., Bertolone, L., Francis, R. O., Hudson, K. E., Zimring, J. C., Hansen, K. C., Hod, E. A., Spitalnik, S. L., & D'Alessandro, A. (2020).
 COVID-19 infection alters kynurenine and fatty acid metabolism, correlating with IL-6 levels and renal status. *JCI Insight*, 5(14), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI.INSIGHT.140327
- Townsend, L., Dyer, A. H., Jones, K., Dunne, J., Mooney, A., Gaffney, F., O'Connor, L., Leavy, D., O'Brien, K., Dowds, J., Sugrue, J. A., Hopkins, D., Martin-Loeches, I., Ni Cheallaigh, C., Nadarajan, P., McLaughlin, A. M., Bourke, N. M., Bergin, C., O'Farrelly, C., ... Conlon, N. (2020). Persistent fatigue following SARS-CoV-2 infection is common and independent of severity of initial infection. *PLoS ONE*, 15(11 November), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0240784
- van der Kolk, N. M., de Vries, N. M., Kessels, R. P. C., Joosten, H., Zwinderman, A. H., Post, B., & Bloem, B. R. (2019). Effectiveness of home-based and remotely supervised aerobic exercise in Parkinson's disease: a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18(11), 998–1008. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30285-6
- van der Velden, R. M. J., Broen, M. P. G., Kuijf, M. L., & Leentjens, A. F. G. (2018). Frequency of mood and anxiety fluctuations in Parkinson's disease patients with motor fluctuations: A systematic review. *Movement Disorders*, 33(10), 1521–1527. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.27465
- Venkatesan, D., Iyer, M., Narayanasamy, A., Siva, K., & Vellingiri, B. (2020). Kynurenine pathway in Parkinson's disease—An update. *ENeurologicalSci*, 21(August), 100270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ensci.2020.100270

- Voon, V., Fernagut, P. O., Wickens, J., Baunez, C., Rodriguez, M., Pavon, N., Juncos, J. L., Obeso, J. A., & Bezard, E. (2009). Chronic dopaminergic stimulation in Parkinson's disease: from dyskinesias to impulse control disorders. *The Lancet Neurology*, 8(12), 1140–1149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70287-X
- Wan, Y., Shang, J., Graham, R., Baric, R. S., & Li, F. (2020). Receptor Recognition by the Novel Coronavirus from Wuhan: an Analysis Based on Decade-Long Structural Studies of SARS Coronavirus. *Journal of Virology*, 94(7). https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.00127-20
- WHO. (2020). World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/health-topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_3
- Yang, L., Han, Y., Nilsson-Payant, B. E., Gupta, V., Wang, P., Duan, X., Tang, X., Zhu, J.,
 Zhao, Z., Jaffré, F., Zhang, T., Kim, T. W., Harschnitz, O., Redmond, D., Houghton, S.,
 Liu, C., Naji, A., Ciceri, G., Guttikonda, S., ... Chen, S. (2020). A Human Pluripotent
 Stem Cell-based Platform to Study SARS-CoV-2 Tropism and Model Virus Infection in
 Human Cells and Organoids. *Cell Stem Cell*, 27(1), 125-136.e7.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2020.06.015
- Ye, Z. W., Yuan, S., Yuen, K. S., Fung, S. Y., Chan, C. P., & Jin, D. Y. (2020). Zoonotic origins of human coronaviruses. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, *16*(10), 1686–1697. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.45472
- You, H., Mariani, L. L., Mangone, G., Le Febvre de Nailly, D., Charbonnier-Beaupel, F., & Corvol, J. C. (2018). Molecular basis of dopamine replacement therapy and its side effects in Parkinson's disease. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 373(1), 111–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-018-2813-2
- Young, B. E., Ong, S. W. X., Kalimuddin, S., Low, J. G., Tan, S. Y., Loh, J., Ng, O. T., Marimuthu, K., Ang, L. W., Mak, T. M., Lau, S. K., Anderson, D. E., Chan, K. S., Tan, T. Y., Ng, T. Y., Cui, L., Said, Z., Kurupatham, L., Chen, M. I. C., ... Lye, D. C. (2020).

- Epidemiologic Features and Clinical Course of Patients Infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Singapore. *JAMA Journal of the American Medical Association*, *323*(15), 1488–1494. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.3204
- Young, B. K., Camicioli, R., & Ganzini, L. (1997). Neuropsychiatric adverse effects of antiparkinsonian drugs. Characteristics, evaluation and treatment. *Drugs and Aging*, 10(5), 367–383. https://doi.org/10.2165/00002512-199710050-00005
- Zach, H., Dirkx, M. F., Pasman, J. W., Bloem, B. R., & Helmich, R. C. (2017). Cognitive Stress Reduces the Effect of Levodopa on Parkinson's Resting Tremor. CNS Neuroscience and Therapeutics, 23(3), 209–215. https://doi.org/10.1111/cns.12670
- Zhang, Q., Schultz, J. L., Aldridge, G. M., Simmering, J. E., & Narayanan, N. S. (2020). Coronavirus Disease 2019 Case Fatality and Parkinson's Disease. *Movement Disorders*, 35(11), 1914–1915. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.28325
- Zhao, Y., Harmatz, J. S., Epstein, C. R., Nakagawa, Y., Kurosaki, C., Nakamura, T., Kadota, T., Giesing, D., Court, M. H., & Greenblatt, D. J. (2015). Favipiravir inhibits acetaminophen sulfate formation but minimally affects systemic pharmacokinetics of acetaminophen. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12644